# FUNDING COMMITTEE OF THE BRIDGE HOUSE ESTATES BOARD Monday, 11 September 2023

Minutes of the meeting of the Funding Committee of the Bridge House Estates Board held at Committee Room - 2nd Floor West Wing, Guildhall and via Microsoft Teams on Monday, 11 September 2023 at 11.00 am

## Present

#### Members:

Paul Martinelli (Chair) Deputy Nighat Qureishi (Deputy Chair) John Griffiths Deborah Oliver Jannat Hossain (Co-opted Member) William Hoyle (Co-opted Member)

# Officers:

Joseph Anstee

Managing Director of Bridge House Estates
BHE Chief Funding Director
BHE Philanthropy Director
BHE Funding Director
BHE Funding Director
BHE Funding Director
BHE Head of Strategy & Governance
BHE Charities Technical & Strategic
Finance Manager
BHE Funding Manager
BHE Funding Manager
BHE Funding Manager
BHE Funding Manager
BHE Funding Manager
BHE Funding Manager
BHE Funding Manager
BHE Consultant Funding Manager
Chief Lawyer, Comptroller & City Solicitor's Department

- BHE Governance Officer

The Chair opened the meeting by welcoming Members and officers, as well as any members of the public or stakeholders observing the meeting via YouTube.

## AANCHAL WOMEN'S AID

The Committee welcomed Aanchal Women's Aid, a Redbridge-based organisation that provide support, assistance and advice to Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic women experiencing abuse, and current grantee, to the meeting

to present and discuss their work.

Aanchal Women's Aid then gave the Committee an introduction to their organisation as well as their background and history, before outlining their various programmes of work. The Committee heard that with one in five people experiencing domestic abuse during their lifetime, Bridge House Estates funding had enabled Aanchal Women's Aid to go the extra mile in providing additional support and assurance to their referrals, which were mostly from Redbridge, but also came in from Havering, Barking & Dagenham, and Newham. Aanchal Women's Aid further focussed on providing aftercare, post-trauma support and ongoing safety, with a view to increasing healthy coping mechanisms, communication, and strengthening bonds with friends and family.

Aanchal Women's Aid then highlighted their appreciation for the support provided by City Bridge Trust officers during the course of their grant so far, having facilitated a very positive and supportive relationship with the organisation.

In response to questions from Members, the Committee and Aanchal Women's Aid then discussed how their funding had enabled additional support, the organisation's approach to recruiting and deploying volunteers, and its geographic scope and potential to expand the organisation's services.

The Committee then thanked Aanchal Women's Aid for their excellent presentation and for joining the meeting.

## 1. APOLOGIES

There were no apologies.

#### 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

John Griffiths declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 10 by virtue of his employment with Rocket Science, which had previously worked with London Funders on Place-Based Giving Schemes.

David Farnsworth declared an interest in Items 10 and 12 by virtue of his being Chair of London Funders and advised that he would not participate on these items.

#### 3. MINUTES

With regards to the minute at Item 10, a Member commented that the wording should be clearer on the need for wider conversation on the funding of the social care market and the increased support needed for caregivers in the sector. The Chief Funding Director advised that it was intended to bring further reporting on this matter to a future meeting of the Committee.

**RESOLVED** – That, pending the above amendment, the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 12 June 2023 be agreed as a correct record.

## 4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS\*

The Committee received a list of outstanding actions and noted the updates provided in respect of the items listed.

**RESOLVED** – That the outstanding actions list be noted.

# 5. CHIEF FUNDING DIRECTOR'S REPORT

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Funding Director providing an update on key areas of activity and outlining upcoming activities. The Chief Funding Director introduced the report and drew Members' attention to the key Points.

#### Suicide Prevention

The Chief Funding Director advised that officers would ensure that the charity was able to contribute to and complement work in this area, with a Suicide Prevention Plan and nationwide fund anticipated. The Chief Funding Director added that she would be hosting two roundtables for key stakeholders around the City Corporation's suicide prevention conference in October.

#### **LocalMotion**

The Chief Funding Director gave the Committee an update on the LocalMotion programme and advised that the Enfield place visit originally scheduled for July, had now been rescheduled and would be combined with the Learning summit planned for 14 November 2023, with all Members invited and encouraged to attend.

## City Giving Day

The Committee noted that there had been a positive response to the City Giving Day programme scheduled for 26 September, with over 70 delegates signed up, many from Livery Companies and other funders. The Chief Funding Director advised that the Deputy Chair and Members of the Board would be presenting and encouraged other Members to attend.

The Chair then commented that he had recently attended a learning visit, which he had enjoyed, and encouraged other Members to contact the charity's Impact and Learning team to organise a visit.

**RESOLVED** – That the Funding Committee, in discharge of functions for the City Corporation as Trustee of Bridge House Estates and solely in the charity's best interests, note the contents of the report.

# 6. BUDGET MONITORING REPORT FOR BHE FUNDING ACTIVITIES: PERIOD ENDED 31 JULY 2023

The Committee received a report of the Chief Funding Director and the BHE & Charities Finance Director providing a financial update on BHE Funding activities to 31 July 2023 and an updated forecast for the financial year ending 31 March 2024. The Chair introduced the item and encouraged officers to progress work with City Corporation officers to develop an appropriate level of understanding and established processes around depreciation and recharges as relevant to the charity. The Managing Director of BHE responded that this

was important pan-charity work as was being progressed by members of the Executive Leadership team.

The Chair further commented that a comparison of cashflow exiting arising from grant-making would be useful for future reports. The BHE & Charities Finance Director advised that cashflow information for the whole charity was provided for the Investment Committee, and that the charity's funding and finance teams worked closely to ensure the information was up-to-date and factored in items such as long-term grants. The Committee was further assured that aspects such as long-term staff planning, were taken into account in considering cashflow implications, and vice versa.

A Member commented that they would raise a point later in the agenda regarding the implications of recent developments in the sector.

**RESOLVED** – That the Funding Committee, in discharge of functions for the City Corporation as Trustee of Bridge House Estates and solely in the charity's best interests, note the contents of the report.

#### 7. SUMMARY OF BRIDGING DIVIDES\*

The Committee noted a summary of the Bridging Divides programme.

#### 8. ANCHOR PROGRAMME ROUND ONE

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Funding Director presenting and summarising the Anchor Programme, its background, aims and objectives, and activity to date. The report also proposed an additional allocation of £5m to the programme, bringing the total allocation to £25m, and presented 15 Round One applications totalling £15,948,630 for decision. The Chair introduced the item, commending the substantial work undertake non the programme so far, before the Chief Funding Director introduced the report and presented the proposals to the Committee. The Committee noted that seven applications, if endorsed, would be referred to the BHE Board on 26 September 2023.

The Committee then proceeded to discuss the proposals, noting that there had been 173 applications to the programme. The Chief Funding Director advised that all expressions of interests had been analysed, with the most common reasons for declination listed on the website. Officers had also held preapplication webinars for the programme and were planning a drop-in session for organisations to receive and discuss feedback.

In response to a question from a Member regarding systems change, the Chief Funding Director advised that having recognised the complexity of systems change, officers developed this criteria based on the work of the Propel programme and other funders, and had tried to maintain a broad definition so as not to discourage applications. A reflection period ahead of Round Two would be used to ensure organisations understood what was meant by systems change.

The Chief Funding Director further advised that a 'buddy' system had been piloted as part of the programme to ensure that officers understood the

programme's intentions with regards to systems change, with specific training also provided for staff. The Chair responded that training around systems change would also be beneficial for Members and asked that this be taken away for consideration, noting that opportunities to promote learning from the programme might also be progressed.

Noting the longer-term nature of the programme's funding, a Member queried how the charity could identify the root causes of issues at which to target funding, whether the right things were targeted, and how best to measure the impact of the funding distributed. The Chief Funding Director advised that on a wider level this formed a core part of various workstreams and would be deliberated as part of current strategic work to be considered by the Committee. With regards to the Anchor programme, officers had worked with a learning partner and had designed a 3-year feedback loop in order to understand the work undertaken by organisations and their journey going forward.

A Member commented that the proposals demonstrated learning from the sector on the co-design process, and that officers could be proud of the work undertaken, adding that most organisations had reflected what had been asked of them, which was a significant positive. The Member suggested that more clarity be provided on protected characteristics and their relevance, as this was important in the context of understanding the law versus experience, particularly around poverty and migration.

The Chief Funding Director advised that other funders had show interest in the work and officers would share learning on the programme, particularly on the co-design process. The co-lead model had also worked well, providing numerous benefits in running the programme.

The Chief Funding Director then outlined the case for the additional allocation of £5m to the programme, advising that this would increase the significance and impact of the programme by enabling a further five grants, in addition to the remainder of the current allocation, which could facilitate a maximum of four further grants. The level of interest in Round One had demonstrated a sufficient level of demand, and an additional allocation would facilitate a better return on the investments in the learning partner and innovative approach to the programme. With Members supportive of an uplift in principle and noting the level of need demonstrated, the Chief Funding Director undertook to explore whether an uplift greater than £5m might be considered, and advised that this would be brought back to the Committee.

The Chair then drew the Committee's attention to the applications recommended for approval and took each proposal in turn, beginning with applications to be recommended to the BHE Board. In response to a question in respect of the application from The Ubele Initiative, the Chief Funding Director advised that officers had explored the potential duplication with available skills-based charity training and were satisfied that the organisation's tailored support, work with specific communities and culturally-sensitive working constituted a pertinent and needful offer. Noting the applications which

appeared to be focussed on specific boroughs, the Committee was advised that both organisations supported other boroughs with high needs, with their network and policy work also having a wider geographic impact.

The Committee agreed to recommend the applications over £1m presented before considering the applications for their approval. In response to a question from the Chair in respect of the application from Migrant Rights Network, the Chief Funding Director advised that previous rejections from the organisation had been discussed, with officers satisfied that these had been addressed, with the organisation also having achieved increased income and free reserves. The Chair then drew the Committee's attention to the recommendations, which were agreed, before thanking and congratulating officers for their work on the programme so far.

**RESOLVED** - That the Funding Committee of the Bridge House Estates Board, in the discharge of functions for the City Corporation as Trustee of Bridge House Estates and solely in the charity's best interests:

- i) Agree an additional allocation of £5m to the Anchor Programme, bringing the total allocation to £25m;
- ii) Endorse to the BHE Board the recommendations for funding of the following six grants (totalling £7,888,670):
  - a. £1,491,000 over ten years to Action for Race Equality (charity no. 1056043);
  - £1,500,000 over ten years to Alliance for Inclusive Education (charity no.1124424);
  - c. £1,408,400 over ten years to Consortium LGBT (charity no. 1105502);
  - d. £1,202,900 over ten years to Imkaan (charity no.1105976);
  - e. £1,003,000 over seven years to Spectra CIC (charity no. 07975254);
  - f. £1,283,370 over ten years to The Interlink Foundation (charity no. 1079311);
- iii) Endorse to the BHE Board, in principle subject to the following conditions being met, £1,048,500 over seven years (£149,200; £149,600; £150,000; £149,800; £149,900; £150,000; £150,000) towards core costs to help The Ubele Initiative (TUI) develop a 'Centre of Financial Excellence' and support Black-led organisations overcome systemic barriers in the voluntary sector;

Confirmation of the award and the first payment will be subject to the following conditions:

- The TUI Directors/Board confirm and provide satisfactory assurance that they have considered, understood, and accepted the risk of taking on liability for advice provided within the Centre of Financial Excellence.
- TUI confirms that the role of Chief Finance Officer (CFO) is in post and will determine the staffing structure, roles, and Job Descriptions for the new Centre, noting that the CFO may wish to consider the use of consultants to provide advice.
- iv) Approve the following eight recommendations (totalling £7,011,460):

- a. £999,990 over eight years to Council of Somali Organisations (charity no. 1154667);
- £979,370 over seven years to End Violence Against Women Coalition (EVAW) (charity no. 1161132);
- c. £993,700 over eight years to Galop (charity no. 1077384);
- d. £999,200 over ten years to HEAR Equality and Human Rights Network (charity no. 1168591);
- e. £979,500 over seven years to Inclusion Barnet (CIO no. 1158632);
- f. £591,300 over seven years to Migrants Rights Network (charity no. 1125746);
- g. £925,000 over ten years to Muslim Charities Forum (charity no. 1166149);
- h. £543,400 over eight years to Southall Community Alliance (charity no. 1104671).

## 9. STRATEGIC INITIATIVE: RESPONSIBLE FINANCE

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Funding Director proposing an approach to strengthen the lending capacity of three Community Development Finance Institutions and build a more robust evidence base for future support from Government through a strategic initiative with Responsible Finance. The Chief Funding Director introduced the report and presented the proposal to the Committee.

In response to questions from Members, the Chief Funding Director advised that the majority of the funding was frontloaded to assist the receiving organisations in leveraging further funding, and that whilst the overhead costs percentage was relatively high, this reflected the specialist nature of the work and felt to be justified, also noting that engagement with HM Treasury was felt to be the biggest source of potential change.

The Chair then drew the Committee's attention to the recommendations, which were agreed.

**RESOLVED** - That the Funding Committee, in discharge of functions for the City Corporation as Trustee of Bridge House Estates and solely in the charity's best interests:

 Award £788,000 over two years to Responsible Finance to provide a first loss allocation to three Community Development Finance Institutions (CDFIs) to leverage additional investment to focus on lending to London residents facing financial insecurity and build the policy case for Government support to the community lending sector.

#### 10. STRATEGIC INITIATIVE: LONDON'S GIVING - RESOURCE HUB

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Funding Director seeking approval of a grant of £615,000 to London Funders to build on its existing London's Giving work by establishing a Resource Hub to support the development and capacity of place-based giving schemes (PBGS) in London. The Chief Funding Director introduced the report, reminding Members of the history of the scheme before presenting the proposals to the Committee.

Members commented that the Resource Hub should help with addressing funding cold spots, but noted that Place-Based Giving Schemes were not

suited to every area of London and other forms of infrastructure may need to be explored.

**RESOLVED** - That the Funding Committee, in discharge of functions for the City Corporation as Trustee of Bridge House Estates and solely in the charity's best interests:

i) Approve a grant of £615,000 over three years to London Funders (charity no: 1116201) to develop a Resource Hub to support the development of place-based giving schemes in the capital.

# 11. GRANT FUNDING ACTIVITY: PERIOD ENDED 24 AUGUST 2023

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Funding Director providing details of funds approved and rejected under delegated authority since the last meeting of the Funding Committee in June 2023; the remaining 2023/2024 grants budget; grants spend to date and for this meeting by London Borough compared with the Multiple Index of Deprivation; any grant variations that have been approved under delegated authority; and seeking approval for one grant between £500,000 and £1,000,001.

The Chair introduced the item and drew Members' attention to the funding application in respect of Money4You, which was approved. In response to a question from the Chair, the Chief Funding Director advised that officers were comfortable with the current volume, rate and reasons for rejections agreed, adding that officers would assess whether the new website had affected these figures.

The Chief Funding Director confirmed that IVAR Flexible Funding Commitments guidelines had been implemented through various areas of current policy and practice, plus across the application process.

**RESOLVED** - That the Funding Committee of the Bridge House Estates Board, in the discharge of functions for the City Corporation as Trustee of Bridge House Estates and solely in the charity's best interests:

- i) Receive this report and note its contents; and
- ii) Approve a grant of £552,700 over five years (£100,000; £105,000; £110,300; £115,800; £121,600) towards Money4You's (no. 1157549) AVOCODO programme for BAMER organisations in London.

## 12. **PROPEL PROGRAMME UPDATE**

The Committee received a report of the Chief Funding Director providing an update on the Propel Programme, a ten-year funder collaboration co-ordinated by London Funders (the charity supporting the only cross-sector membership network of funders and investors in London's civil society) to which CBT has allocated £30m, including confirmation of the final Round One spend, plans for future rounds, and information regarding the distribution of spend for the remaining funds (£22.9m of £30m). The Chief Funding Director introduced the report and drew Members' attention to the key points.

In response to a question from a Member, the Chief Funding Director advised that collaborative funding was likely to be aligned rather than pooled throughout the programme, with the funding alignment process having worked well to this point. The Chief Funding Director further advised that whilst CBT had contributed the most so far as a result of leading the Explore stage, other funders remained fully committed, having also made significant contributions so far, and officers remained confident that the overall funding target of £100m would be met.

**RESOLVED** – That the Funding Committee, in discharge of functions for the City Corporation as Trustee of Bridge House Estates (charity reg. no. 1035628) and solely in the charity's best interests:

i) Note the report.

## 13. END-TO-END REVIEW OF CBF'S MAIN GRANT-MAKING PROGRAMME UPDATE

The Committee received a report of the Chief Funding Director providing an update on the End-to-End Review of City Bridge Trust's main grant-making programme. The Chief Funding Director introduced the report and drew Members' attention to the key points, advising that the findings of the review would be circulated to equity partners before any recommendations were brought to the Committee.

In response to a question from a Member, the Chief Funding Director advised that in addition to consultation, evidence would be gathered directly from other funders, through internal data analysis, desk review and through surveys of and writing on current practice, with a clear aim to ensure the review reflected the most up-to-date thinking on elements such as equity. The Chief Funding Director also confirmed that the review would include the application assessment process, and that the charity's funding practices would be benchmarked according to IVAR Flexible Funding Commitments and Foundation Practice Rating.

**RESOLVED** – That the Funding Committee, in discharge of functions for the City Corporation as Trustee of Bridge House Estates (charity reg. no. 1035628) and solely in the charity's best interests:

1. Note the contents of the report.

## 14. WHAT AGE CBT CONSIDERS OLDER PEOPLE

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Funding Director setting out information related to a recent review with the purpose of considering the feasibility of revising the age criteria that CBT considers older people. The Chair introduced the item, noting that Members had requested this review arising from discussion at the previous meeting. The Chief Funding Director then introduced the report and drew Members' attention to the key points, also outlining the reasons for the recommendation, which was then agreed. **RESOLVED** – That the Funding Committee, in discharge of functions for the City Corporation as Trustee of Bridge House Estates and solely in the charity's best interests:

i) Approve Option 2 - to empower self-definition and remove age restrictions from CBT's current funding criteria relating to older people.

# 15. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE AND ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT

The Chair offered a vote of thanks on behalf of the Committee and of Bridge House Estates to William Hoyle on his last meeting as a Committee Member. The Chair reported that William had been a Co-opted Member with the charity since May 2019, having joined the former City Bridge Trust Committee, and his digital and tech background, and his experience with youth and social enterprise charities had been a fantastic addition to the Committee. Furthermore, his contributions and help to the charity in navigating the challenges of the Covid-19 pandemic and the BHE Governance Review were hugely valued and appreciated.

The Chair added that William had also been a very engaged and committed Lead Member for the Committee on the LocalMotion programme, helping to steer the ongoing development of some excellent and groundbreaking work, which it was hoped he could continue to do, and would be warmly welcomed to future meetings to discuss.

The Committee therefore placed on record sincere thanks and appreciation to William for all he has done for City Bridge Trust and Bridge House Estates, and best wishes for all his future endeavours.

## 16. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

MOTION – With the Court of Common Council for the City Corporation as Trustee of Bridge House Estates (Charity No. 1035628) having decided to treat these meetings as though Part VA and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 applied to them, it now be moved that the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that their consideration will in each case disclose exempt information of the description in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A, being information relating to the financial and business affairs of any person (including the City Corporation as Trustee of the charity) which it would not be in the charity's best interests to disclose.

# NON-PUBLIC MINUTES RESOLVED – That the non-public minutes of the meeting on 12 June 2023 be agreed as a correct record.

18. **DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED AUTHORITY OR URGENCY\*** The Committee received a report of the BHE Governance Officer.

## 19. SOCIAL INVESTMENT

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Funding Director.

## 20. PIPELINE OF STRATEGIC INITIATIVES\*

The Committee received a report of the Chief Funding Director.

21. **TRANS INCLUSION AND STATE OF THE SECTOR** The Committee received a report of the Chief Funding Director.

#### 22. COLD SPOT REVIEW

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Funding Director.

#### 23. **FUTURE FUNDING DIRECTION** The Committee considered a report of the Chief Funding Director.

24. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE AND ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED There was no other business.

The Chair then thanked Members and officers in attendance for their contributions before closing the meeting.

## The meeting ended at 1.30 pm

-----

Chair

Contact Officer: Joseph Anstee joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk